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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MARQUETTA MILLER, et al,
Plaintiffs,
V. No. 17-cv-0840(KBJ)

D.C. WATER AND SEWER
AUTHORITY, et al,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The 21 plaintiffs in the instant action are neighbors who had the distinct
misfortune of livingon Delafield Placen the District of Columbia—a street containing
mostly single-family residencesn the Northeast quadrant tie city—on November 18,
2016. On that date, “more than two feet of raw sewage, including sanitary; semi
industrial, and commercial waste from a nearby nursing home, hospithsemeral
retail operations, flooded intBlaintiffs’ home$.]” (Am. Compl., ECF No9, 1 1.)
Plaintiffs have suedhe District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority (“WASA”)
andthree remediation companies thaASA hired to clearup and remeiate the
damage(collectively, “Defendants”)their complaintmakes ten claimsthat can be
grouped into three categorie§enerally speaking?laintiffs allegethat this disastrous
occurrence ands unsatisfactory aftermatfl) constitutedcivil rights violationsunder
federal and state law (CountslV); (2) breachedarious fedeal and state

environmental protection statutes (Counts\W11); and(3) amounted tagross
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negligence and trespass under D.C. common law (Counts IX an®ld)ntiffs seek
compensatory and punitive damages, attorneys fees and costs, and an ordergrequi
Defendants to “address the injuries that Defendants caused on Deldteld P
including by arranging for and paying the medical monitoring of the citzdfected

by Defendants’ conduct[.]'(Am. Compl., at 45)

Before this Court at preseatethe fou separatenotionsto dismissthat
Defendants have fileth this matter(SeeDef. WASA’s Mot. to Dismis$Pl.’s Am.
Compl. ("WASA’s Mot.”), ECF No. 19; Mot. by Def. Charmay, Inc., d/b/a
ServiceMaster NCR, tDismissAm. Compl Relating to 129 Delafield Place
(“ServiceMaster’s Mot.”), ECF No. 23; BelfddSA Group Inc's Mot. to Dismissthe
Am. Compl. (“Belfor’'s Mot.”), ECF No. 26; Def. Superior Mitigation Servsc.lul/b/a
Servproof Washington, DC’s Rule 12(b)(6Jlot. to Dismss (“Servpro’s Mot.”), ECF
No. 27.¥ In the main andaken togetherDefendantsmotionsarguethat Plaintiffs
failed to comply withthe notice requirements of the environmental statutey th
invoked—statuteswvhich do not apply to the factual circumstascdeerein any event
that Plaintiffshave failedto allegesufficiently that Defendants acted under color of
state law or hadhe requisite discriminatory intefor the purpose oPlaintiffs’ civil
rights claims andthat the facts alleged in the complaint contradfitdintiffs’ common
law tort claims which are also barred by various immunity doctrin&s opposition,

Plaintiffs insist thatthey provided sufficieninoticeof their claimsto WASA under

1 Page numbers herein refer to those that the Court’s electroniefitimgesystem automatically
assigns.

2 For the purpose of this Memorandum Opinion, and unless otherwise notedrghments that
Defendants make in their separate motions are viewed collectively, alitsaparate citations are
provided.



environmental statutethatapply to the sewageeleaseat issuehereand provide the
purely injunctive relief they seekhatPlaintiffs’ status as a uniformlAfrican-
American communityaises a sufficient inference of discriminatory intentdacsecivil
rights claims andthatthe immunity doctrineshat Defendants allege do not insulate
Defendants from th@laintiffs’ commonlaw tort claims, which Plaintiffsay have been
allegd sufficienty. (SeePls.” Mem. in Opp’n to Defs.” MotsTo Dismiss Am. Compl.
(“Pls.” Opp’n”), ECF No. 38, at 1-7.)

For the reasons explained belothis Court concludethat Plaintiffs havefailed
to comply withthe procedural requirements tife environmental statutes they invoke,
and that the facts alleged in the complaint do not state a claim for relief timal
statutes. Plaintiffs have also falléar short of making plausible allegations feideral
civil rights violations, because the complaint contains insufficient facéstablish
either thatDefendants acted under color of state kawhat their conduct was
discriminatorily motivated Thereforethe federal claims in this case must be
dismissedandthis Court will decline toexercise supplemental jurisdiction over the
remaining local and common law claimés a result, Defendants’ motieo dismiss
Plaintiffs’ complainthave beerGRANTED, and Plaintiffs’ complaint has been
DISMISSED. The Court issued separate order consistent with this Memorandum

Opinionon Septerher 30, 2018.



INTRODUCTION
A. Background?®

During the eighteen months prior to Friday, November 18, 2016, Defendant
WASA repeatedlyattemptedo repair a frail subsurface water main beneath Delafield
Place, whichs a streetin the District of Columbidhat iscomprised predominantly of
singlefamily row houses.(SeeAm. Compl. 35-36.) WASA's repairattemptswere
ultimatelyunsuccessful, as evidenced by the fact,tbatNovember 1@, a “stream of
concentrated water. . bore into the adjacent underground sewage main by which
WASA collects and carries untreated, raw sewage and household, commandial,
semtindustrial waste from the homedjt. 1 26), and within minutes, raw sewage
began to erupt from the toilets at the basement levét@houss on Delafield Place
(id. § 38). By the end of thirty minutes, the basement floof$’laintiffs’ homeswere
submerged beneath two to three feet of raw sewage, producing a stench that was
“overwhelming and nauseating; the sigtarrifying.” (Id.) And thesecircumstance
rendered the amenities and fixtuiasthe basements of the affected homeshich
generallyincluded the washer and drighe sole hot water heatethe furnace, and in
some cases living spaces such as a bedroom or ledeggrely inaccssible. (See id
39.)

WASA responded to the sewage releAgemmediatelyshutting off water and
sewer access to Delafield Placé&ee id § 40.) It furtheradvised most, but not all, of

the 21 citizens of the District of Columbiho ownedtheimpacted homesnone of

3 The facts recited in this opinion are gleaned from Plaintiffeiefded Complaint, and this Couras
treated the complaint’s allegations as true for the purpose ofwiegothe instant motions to dismiss.
SeeBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombl|y550 U.S. 544, 5556 (2007).



whom were whitgsee id.{ 35) that WASA wouldhandlethe cleanup andwould
remediate their hoses(see id.f 42) WASA thencontracted withDefendants Belfor,
Servpro, and ServiceMaster (collectivetipefendantContractors) to performthe
cleanup and remediationvork. (See id.y 43.) According to Plaintiffs, the ensuing
steps that these companies took to clean up the seavaeemediate their residences
wereentirely unsatisfactory, and not ondiyd Defendant Contractoffsil to fix the
significant damagé¢hat the sewage leak had causewbir intervention alsded to a host
of additionalproblems (See idf 44 (assertingnter alia, that the contractors tracked
fecal matter intopreviously unaffected areasf the housswith no remedial cleatp;
removed and disposed of owners’ personal items without their knowledge or consent
removedtiling in at least three homes a manner thatesultedin friable asbestos
exposuretheyfailed to remove all contaminated waste; andddito restore the
basement bathroonts their original conditioh) In short Plaintiffs maintainthat
WASA exhibited “gross negligence and reckless disregard for Plaintifalth and
property”from beginning to endid. § 1), and thatinstead ofhelping,the Defendant
Contractors’cleanup andremediation effort actuallyworsened the injury(id. 1 2).

B. Procedural History

By letter dated December 5, 201 aintiffs served a Notice of Citizen Su#a
prerequisite to litigation undehe citizen suit provisions afeveral federal
environmental statuteson WASA. (See id § 4 (referencing Section 7002 of the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 6972; Sections 104,
112, and 310 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act (“CERCLA™), 42 U.S.C. 88 9604, 9612, 9659; and Section 20 of the Toxic

Substances Control Act (“TSCA”), 15 U.S.C. § 26)9Then, on May 7, 2017,



Plaintiffs filed an elevencount complaint in this Court against WAS(See Compl.,
ECF No. 1) Plaintiffsdropped one count aralso addedelfor, Charmay, and
ServiceMastens defendanten August 24, 2017, when themended the complaint.
(SeeAm. Compl.)}*

In Counts | through IV, Plaintiffs claim that Defendant®nduct violated
various federal and state civil rights statut€eeAm. Compl. 1Y 12832 (Count I,
Violation of Civil Rights(42 U.S.C. §1981));id. 11 133-37 (Count Il, Violation of
Civil Rights (42 U.S.C. 8982));id. 11 13842 (Count IlI, Violation of Civil Rights
(42 U.S.C. §1983));id. 11 14350 (Count IV, Violation of Civil Rights (D.C. Human
Rights Act)).) In Counts V through VIII, Plaintiffs contend that the events of
November 18, 2016nd their aftermathransgressed host of federal and state
environmentalaws. (Seeid. 11 15358 (Count V, Violation of Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act: Citizens’ Suit (42 U.S.C6872(a)(1)(B)));id. 11 159-71 (Count
VI, Comprehensive Environmental Resource Condarmaand Liability Act Liability
(42 U.S.C. 89601));id. 11 17274 (Count VII, Violation of TSCACitizens’ Suit (15
U.S.C. 82619));id. 11 17581 (Count VIII, Violation of D.C. Asbestos Rules (D.C.
Code 8111.01)).) Only Counts IX and X make the kindd claims that are traditionally
associated witla purportedly accidentadndcatastrophic event like the one at issue
here.(Seeid. 11 18294 (Count IX,Commonlaw Gross Negligengde Y 195202
(Count X, Commorlaw Trespasi) Plaintiffs complaintseelsrelief in the form of

compensatory damages, consequential damages, punitive damages, att@eswsid

4 Plaintiffs’ original complaint included a staralone count seeking declarayorelief (Count XI),
which was omitted when the complaint was amended.



costs with interest, medical monitoring, and any other equitable andriggflto the
maximum extent permitted by lawmSee e.qg, id. at 28-29.)

As noted above,ah of theDefendants has filed a separate motion to dismiss
Plaintiffs’ complaint. §eeWASA’s Mot.; ServiceMaster’s Mot.; Belfor's Mot.;
Servpro’s Mot) In generalDefendantsassail the complaint on both procedural and
substantive grunds, arguing, for example, thRtaintiffs havefailed to comply withthe
statutory notice requirements of the environmental statutes they inanlethat
Plaintiffs havenot allegal sufficiently that Defendantscéed under color of state lagr
thattheyhad discriminatory intentas the civil rights statutes requiréSee, e.g.
WASA'’s Mot. at 2526, 36-34;id. at 18-21; Belfor’'s Mot. at 23-24.) Plaintiffs
respond that Defendants’ motions are meritless, because the procestjuiaéments of
the various statutes were followed and the facts that are alleged oothplaint are
more than sufficient to state a plausible claim for relief under federastatd law.
(See, e.g.PIs.” Opp’n at 10, 1217.) Defendantsmotions became ripe for this Cdisr
review onMarch 9, 2018 (SeeReply Mem. in Supp. of Belfor’'s Mot., ECF No. 41;
WASA'’s Reply to Pls.” Opp’'n to WASA’s Mot., ECF No. 42; Reply Mem. in Supp. of
Servpro’s Mot., ECF No. 43; Reply to Pls.” Opp’n to ServiceMaster’s Mot., ECF No.

44.) This Court held a hearing on the motions on July 10, 2018.

1. LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Motions To Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(6)

Motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(@pugnthe sufficiency ofa complaint’s
allegations. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(&)ecificallyauthorizedismissl

on the grounds that the complaitail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be



granted.]” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). écordingly, amotion under Rule 12(b)(6)
requiresthe Court to considewhether the complaint ewains “sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fa@aris v. D.C.
Water & Sewer Auth.791 F.3d 65, 68 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (internal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingAshcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 68, 678 (2009))see also Matrixx
Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusan®63 U.S. 27, 46 (201 kxplaining that the complaint’s
allegationsmust besufficient to permit a “reasonable inference that the defendant is
liable for the misconduct alleged” (internal quotation marks and citabomsted))

In this regard, the court must confine its review to the four corners of the
complaint as well as any “documents attached as exhibits or incorporated by rederen
in the complaint, or documents upon which the pii#fits complaint necessarily
relieq,]” Page v. Mancus0999 F. Supp. 2d 269, 275 (D.D.C. 201Biternal quotation
marks and citation omitted), arfchust accept as true all of the allegations contained in
a complaint[,]"Harris, 791 F.3d at 68 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
But this tenet “is inapplicable to legal conclusionddarris, 791 F.3d at 68 Thus,
“[tlhreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supportext tey
conclusory statements, do not sufficdd. (alteration in origina) (internal quotation
marksand citationomitted). Additionally, “the court need not accept inferences drawn
by plaintiffs if such inferences are unsupported by the facts sendueicomplaint.”
Kowal v. MCI Comm’ns Corpl6 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994).

B. Supplemental Jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3)

“Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdictigh Kokkonenv. Guardian Life
Ins. Co. of Am 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994as a general mattethe U.S. Constitution

enumerates the limited categories of cases to which their judicial poayextend see


http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15936914266018909724&q=mims+v+arrow&hl=en&as_sdt=2,14

Art. Ill, 8 2. The two most significant categories of original jurisdictiarthe federal
courtsare federal question jurisdiction and diversity jurisdictisee28 U.S.C.88
13311332 but federal courts also possess supplemental jurisdictioncegveain state
law claims that are anchored to claims over which federal original jurisdictien wa
appropriate.See United Mine Workers &im. v. Gibbs 383 U.S. 715, 725 (1966)
(finding federal court jurisdiction to hear “state and federal claims [mjhderive from
a commomucleus of operative fact”).

Specifically,under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(afJ,a district court has original
jurisdiction, it also has “supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims treata
related to claims in the action within such original jurisdinttbat they form part of the
same case or controversy under Article Ill of the United States Goteh.” 28
U.S.C.8 1367(a). Moreover, supplemental jurisdiction is subject to the district sourt’
discretion undeR8 U.S.C.8§ 1367(c) “[D]istrict courts may decline to exercise
supplemental jurisdictidhin certain specified circumstances, including thé district
court has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdi¢ffon28 U.S.C.8
1367(c). While “[tlhe exercise obBupplementhjurisdictionremains discretionary on
the part of a federal courin] the usual case in which all fede#lalw claims are
dismissed before tridl,courts have routinely found thdthe balance of factors to be
considered under the [supplemental] jurisdiction doctripedicial economy,
convenience, fairness, and comwill point toward declining texercise jurisdiction
over the remaining state law claimfbbinsorReeder v. Am. Council on Edué32 F.
Supp. 2d 6, 18 (D.D.Q008) (quotingShekoyarv. Sibley Int') 409 F.3d 414, 424 (D.C.

Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted)



1. ANALYSIS

As explained abovd)efendantsnake myriad arguments concerning the
procedural and substantive deficiency of Plaintiffs’ claims. F@angxle,Defendants
maintainthatPlaintiffs’ federal environmentdaw claims are procedurally barred
because certaigtatutory notice requiremenvgere not satisfieqsee WASA’s Mot. at
25-26, 30-34), andthatthe samesnvironmental claims aralsosubstantively
insufficient, becausehe citedstatutes do notddressthe type of harnthat Plaintiffs
allege(see id.at 2729, 32-35). Defendants contenthat Plaintiffs’ federal civil rights
claimsare similarlysubstantively flawedbecause Plaintiffs’ allegatior® not
demonstrate thabefendants acted under color of state [@&eBelfor's Mot. at 23-24)
or had the requisitdiscriminatory inten{seeWASA'’s Mot. at18-21). This Court
generallyagrees with Defendartargumentsfor the reasons explained fullyelow.
Therefore, the Couttasgranted Defendants’ Rulel2(b)(6) motions anchasdismis®d
Plaintiffs’ federal claims The remainder of Plaintiffs’ complaint has been dismissed as
well, becausdhe Courtdeclinesto exercise supplemental jurisdiction oube
remaining common law claims

A. Plaintiffs’ Federal Environmental Law Claims Are Dismissed Because

Plaintiffs Did Not Satisfy The Statutory Pre-Suit Notice

Requirements, And Because The Complaint Fails To StatA Claim
Under These Statutes In Any Event

In their Counts V, VI, and VII, Plaintiffs contend that Defendants’ conduct
violated provisions of the following federal statutes: the Resource Conservatidn
Recovery Act (“RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. §972(a)(1)(B); he Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (‘CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C9684, 9612,

9659; and the Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”), 15 U.S.€689. SeeAm.

10



Compl. T 4 see alsdNotice of Citizen Suit, Ex. 1 to Pls.” Opp’&ECF No. 381, at 2.)
Each of these three fededalWwsis “just one piece of a larger network of environmental
laws and their regulations that workgetherto protect our nation’s natural resources
and public health.Envtl. Prot Agency,Introduction ta Other Laws That Interface
with RCRAL (1999).

Notably, these statuteare chiefly concerned with public safety and the
protection of public resources; thus, section 7002(a)(1)(B) of the R&RKorizes
citizens to filesuit against “any person . who has contributed or who is contributing
to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, oralispasy
solid or hazardous wastehich may present an imminent and substantial endangerment
to health or the environmerit 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(Blemphasis added)Similarly,
through CERCLA Congressimpose[d] strict liability forenvironmental remediatigh
Lockheed Martin Corp. v. United State833 F.3d 225, 227 (D.C. Cir. 201@mphasis
added), uporiany person who accepts or accepted any hazardous substances for
transport to disposal or treatment facilities. from which there is a release, or a
threatened release which causes the incurrence of response costs, of ausmzard
substance,42 U.S.C. 8§ 9607(a) and those subpt to CERCLA are strictly liable for
“(A) all costs of removal or remedial action incurred by the UnitedeSt&overnment”
and “(B) any other necessary costs of response incurred by anypsisam”id.
889607a)(4)(A)(B), see U.S. v. AtlIResearch Corp.551 U.S. 128, 13432 (2007).
The TSCA regulates primarily “mamade chemical substances[N’Y. Cmtys. for
Change v. N.Y. City Dept. of Edu®No. 11cv3494, 2012 WL 7807955, at *4 (E.D.N.Y.

Aug. 29, 2012), such as asbestos, and addressmenstances where chemical

11



e

substances endanger public safety by presenting an “‘unreasonable mgkrgfto
health or the environment[,]'id. (quoting 15 U.S.C8 2601(a)(2)). And its citizen suit
provision imposes liability againgtersons, incluchg government instrumentalities or
agenciesthat are*alleged to be in violatiorf this chapter or any rule promulgated
under[certain sections of this statuté]15 U.S.C. 8619a)(1).

In their motions Defendantemphasize that Plaintiffs’ suit is manifestly
inconsistent with the publisafety purposes of the$ederal environmentatatutes in
two ways: first, because Plaintiffs did not provide psait notice to the entities who
would otherwise be responsible for addressing imminent risksibtigphealth and
safety and second, because takegationsthat Plaintiffshave made in the complaint
do not involve the type of imminent or ongoing harm causedebsase ofh hazardous
substance (as that term is defined by statudefendants’ argumeasin this regard are

well-founded and persuasive.

1. Plaintiffs Have Failed To Comply With The Procedural Notice
Requirements Of ThRCRA, CERCLA, and TSCA

Plaintiffs rely on the citizen suit provisions of each of the three enviratahe
statutessee42 U.S.C. § 6972; 42 U.S.@.9659;15 U.S.C.§8 2619, as the authority for
litigating their claims in federal court(SeeAm. Compl.{ 4.) But each of these
provisionsalso has a notice mandate that requires any putative plaintiff to grovid
noticeto alist of entitiesprior to commencing a civil actignncludingeachalleged
violator andvarious enforcement authoritieSee42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A); 42 U.S.C.
§ 9659(d)(1);15 U.S.C.§ 2619(b)(1)(A). (See alsoNASA’s Mot. at 2526, 36-31, 33-

34.)

12



For example, under section 6972(b)(2)(A) of the RCRA,

[nJo action may be commenced under [the citizen suit
provision] prior to ninety days after the plaintiff has given
notice of the endangerment-tgi) the [EPA] Administrator

[of the EnvironmentaProtection Agencly (ii) the State in
which the alleged endangerment may occur; [and] (iii)) any
person alleged to have contributed or to be contributing to the
past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or
disposal of any solid or hazardous waste referred to in [the
citizen suit provision].

42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A)The Supreme Court has held tisatisfaction of the
requirements of this provision ismmandatoryprocedural prerequisite to spyand
dismissalof the lawsuitis requiredif its terms arainmet. See Hallstrom v. Tillamook
County 493 U.S. 20, 3432 (1989)(explaining that'[a]s a general rule, if an action is
barred by the terms of a statute, it must be dismigseldkewise, the citizen suit
provision of the CERCLA stas that

[n]o action may be commenced under subsection (a)(1) of this

section before 60 days after the plaintiff has given notice of

the violation to each of the following: (A) The President [of

the United States;] (B) The State in which the alleged

violation occurs[; and] (C) Any alleged violator of the

standard, regulation, condition, requirement, or order
concerned.

42 U.S.C.8 9659(d)(1) The citizen suit provision of the TSC#&imilarly specifiesthat
“In]o civil action may be commenced [. . beforethe expiration of 60 days after the
plaintiff has given notice of such violation (i) to tfgPA] Administrator, and (ii) to
the person who is alleged to have committed such violatid®.'U.S.C.8 2619(b) see
alsoBasel Action Network v. Mar. Admjr870 F. Supp. 2d 57,576 (D.D.C. 2005)
Plaintiffs insist that they complied with teenotice provisions because they
serveda “Notice of Citizen Suit on WASA on December 7, 2016ndalsowaited the

specifiedlength of time before filing the instant amh. (SeePls.” Opp’n at 12.)But

13



none of theDefendant Contractonwere included in Plaintiffs’ written notice(See
Notice of Citizen Suit at-42.) Also notably absent were tid? A Administrator (for
purposes of the RCRAndthe TSCA) and the President (for purposes of CERCLA).
(See id) Plaintiffs contendthat their notice to WASA waseverthelessufficientunder
these environmentadtatutes, becaudeefendant Contractornsere serving asgentsof
WASA, which was notifiedseePls’ Opp’n atl3), and because the letter sent to WASA
was addressedot onlyto WASA but alsoto “several executivésof the District of
Columbia and EPAid. at 12).

Plaintiffs are wrongon both fronts As to Defendant Contractoy$laintiffs’
Noticefails to satisfy the plain language of the relevant statutory proviswhgh
guite clearly require that notice be providdeachalleged violator.Seg e.g.,42
U.S.C. 8§ 6972(b)(2)(A)(iii) (*any person alleged”); 42 U.S89659(d)(1)(C) ([a]ny
alleged violator”);15 U.S.C.8 2619(bJ1)(A)(ii) (“to the person who is alleged to have
committed such violation”) . BecausePlaintiffs havealleged thatach Defendant
Contractorviolated these environmental lawPlaintiffs cannot evade the mandatory
notice requirementby asserting aheory of*agency that magically transforms
Congress’slearly stated conception of personhood with respect to notice into a law
that requires only that notice be providedly to the principal To the contrary, the
statutesnake cleathat“anyalleged violator” must receive noticd an impending
citizen suit, 42 U.S.C8 9659(d)(1)(CXemphasis addedywhich means exactly what it
says. And the purpose of these environmental lawgher support literal
interpretation of this languagen the interest of protecting public safeGongress

clearly intended for each violator tmvethe opportunity tesolve the problem and

14



therebyavoid being sued SeeRandall S. AbateRethinking Citizen Suitlr Past
Violations of Federal Environmental Laws: Recommendations for the Next Detade
Applying the Gwaltney Standard6 Temp. Envtl. L. & Tech. J1, 6 (1997)(explaining
that, inthe context okenvironmentahazards,; Congress intended citizen suits have a
prospective focus ando] play a supplementary role in relation to government
enforcement efforts{citing Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay
Foundation, Inc,. 484 U.S. 49, 6661 (1987)).

Thus, it is clear to this Court th#te environmentabktatuteghat Plaintiffsseek
to vindicateare designegrimarily to providethe appropriate enforcement authorities
with the opportunity to address and rectify possible violatiafisctingpublic safety.
See Garcia v. Cecos Int’l, Inc7p1l F.2d 76, 82 (1st Cir. 1985)Notice from potential
private plaintiffs gives the EPA and the state an opportunity to investipatalleged
violation.”). As noted, thdirst order concermf these statutes is public safety, and
when vewed aainst thisbackdrop, the notice requiremestkeyto “triggedqing]
administrative action to get the relief that [the citizen] might otherwise se#iein
courts.” 116 Cong. Rec32,927 (1970)remarks of Sen. Muskieyee alsoGwaltney
484 U.S.at59-60 (noting that another purpose of the notice requirement enable
the violator to come into compliance and avoid litigatior)ere, whether gents or ng
Defendant Contractorsere deprived othe opportunity to addresthe alleged
violations in contravention of the notice provisidgnsnguage as well as the citizen
suit’s broader regulatory purpose, and as a result, this Court easilyudesdhat

Plaintiffs have not satisfied the procedural requirements of thesdedatu

15



Nor did Plaintiffs successflly provide the statutorily required notidce WASA
To be sure, Plaintiffslid send WASA a lettett titled “Request for Emergency Relief
and Notice of Citizen Suit,” in which tited to the various environmental laws and
indicated Plaintiffs’ intentionno sue (SeeAmend. Compl.  4see alsd\otice of
Citizen Suit at 2 But this letterwas deficientunder the statutes insofar as it was not
alsoaddressed tthe Administratorof the EPA and other relevant enforcement
authorities See42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A)(ijproviding that the responsible person
andthe Administratorandthe State in which the alleged endangerment may ooeist
be notified); 42 U.S.C8 9659(d)(1)(A)(the notice must go tbéeachof the following
[tlhe President, [t]he State in which the alleged violation occurs, [a]eged violator”
(emphasis added)15 U.S.C.8 2619(b)(i) the notice must go “(i) to the Administrator,
and (ii) to the person who is alleged to have committed such violation” (empha
added)) cf. Garcia, 761 F.2d at 82 (“[W]e would therefore dismiss suits where the
complaint is filed less than sixty days after actual notice to the ageamtthe alleged
violators.”) (emphasis addedAgain, because theitizen suit provisions ofhese
environmental statutesreintended to “trigger administrative action}16 Cong. Rec.
32,927 (1970 remarks of Sen. Muskiejhe EPA Administrator andhe Presideninust
be noticedso that theycan take action, as needed, in therciseof their enforcement
authority See42 U.S.C.882619(b)(i), 6972(b)(2)(A)(i), 9659(d)(1)(A).

The bottom line is this: for good reason, the three federal environmental statutes
that Phintiffs seek to invoke in their complainbntain clear and incontrovertible
notice requirements that Plaintiffs have failed to satisfy in the contexteonhttant

case. Thus, the environmental claims that Plaintiffs have brought agalhef the

16



namedDefendants must be dismissed for failure to state a clgian which relief can
be grantedon the grounds that these claims are procedurally barse@. Hallstrom
493 U.S. at 34325°

2. The Cited Environmental Statut&o Not Pertain ToSewage, And

Plaintiffs’ Allegations Do Not Establish AlmminentOr Ongoing
Harm

Plaintiffs’ federal environmental claims fail for an additional reasbecause
none of the statutes Plaintiffslyeon pertain to sewage, and in any event, the harm that
Plaintiffs allege is noimminent orongoing these federal environmental statutBsnot
apply to the circumstances presented here
a. Sewage Is Expressly Exempted From TBelid And
Hazardous WasteThatThe RCRA And The CERCLA

Address And The TSCA Concerns Orlan-Made Chemical
Substances

As Defendants point outhe RCRA and CERCLAegulak responses to
“hazardousvaste” 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(Bhr “hazardous substancesd’ § 9607(a)
includingwhat these statutes refer to as “solid wasi#,3 69035) (‘[t]he term
‘hazardous waste’ means a solid waste, or combination of solid wastes, which [...] pose a
substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly [
managed”). The statutory definition of “solid waste” states:

The term “solidwasté means any garbage, refuse, sludge from

awastetreatment plant, water supply treatment plant, or air pollution
control facility and other discarded material, including solid, liquid,

5 Defendant WASA has styled its motion with respect to the noticeadefs one under Rule 12(b)(1)
(seeWASA'’s Mot. at 36-31), but the Supreme Court has left open the question of whe¢lis

particular defect igurisdictional in nature, as opposed to merely procedurake Hallstrom493 U.S.

at 31 (“In light of our literal interpretation of the stattyaequirement, we need not determine whether
[the statutory notice provision] is jurisdictional inetlstrict sense of the term.”). The D.C Circuit has
not yet addressed the question, and the parties here have not splcificsfied this issue. This Court,
too, concludes that it need not resolve the uncertainty, because Palivatve failed to satisfy the
statutory notice requirement, and thus their environmental slamst be dismissed in any evefte

id. at 31-32.
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semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting from industrial,
commercial, mining, and agricultural operations, and from community
activities, but does not include solid or dissolved material in domestic
sewage or solid or dissolved materials in igation return flows or
industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits
undersection 1342 of Title 33pr source, special nuclear, or byproduct
material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended (68 Stat.
923)[42 U.S.C.A. 8011 et seq.
Id. 8 6903(27) (emphasis addedlhis same provision defines the scope of coverage with
respect to hazardous waste in regardoth the RCRA and CERCLAee id.8
9601(29) (crosseferencing the RCRA provision and stating that “[t]he term][] . . .
‘hazardous waste’ . . . shall have the meaning provided in ... 42 U.S.C. § 6903").
Moreover,the relevant regulationslsoexpresslyexclude domestic sewag&ee40
C.F.R.8 261.4(a)l) (providingthat“solid wasté as included in the definition of
“hazardous wastedoesnotinclude“domestic sewagéwhich “means untreated
sanitary wastes that pass through a sewer system”).
Accordingly, it is clear beyond cavil thahe RCRAandthe CERCLA do not
apply tothe allegationsregarding sewagthat Plaintiffs make in the amended
complaint.(SeeWASA’s Mot. at 27428, 32-33.) Nor does the TSCA, for that matter,
becausdghe TSCA is concerned wittoxic manmade chemical substances like asbestos,
and in any eventPlaintiffs have nostatedthe relevant chapter or rule promulgated
under the TSCA which Defendants have allegedly violated, and such an et
required to bring a citizen suitSeel5 U.S.C § 2619a)(1).
Undaunted Plaintiffs attempt to reasttheir claims and to argue that the
statutorydefinition of “solid waste”is broad enough to circumvent the domestic sewage

exclusion that is set forth in the regulatio(SeePls.” Opp’n, at 14(arguing that‘the

statutory definition of solid wasté is broader, and the domestic sewage exclusion is
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narrower, than the regulatory definition [so as to include] materglltimg from
industrial, commercial, mining, agricultural, and community operationg&e(nd
guotation marks omitted)).lhis effort is unavailing for several reasons, not the least
of which is the fact thathe very statutoryprovision that Plaintiffsrely uponalso
expresslyexcludes domestic sewag&ee42 U.S.C.8 6903(27) (stating that ‘drzardous
waste” as used in the statute “does not include solid or dissolved matedainestic
sewage”) Moreover, &en if the scope of what iscludedin “solid wasté in the
statutory definitions broader than thdefinition provided in the regulatiofthrough its
inclusion of industrial or commercial waste), that has no bearing on wieaxpiressly
excludedunder the statuté'solid or dissolved material in domestic sewagé2’U.S.C.
8 6903(27) There isno meaningful diffeence between the “raw, untreated sewage”
from nearby hospitals and other commercial facilities that Plaintiffsspaywedinto
their homeson November 18, 201GeeAm. Compl. 1 1, 130),on the one handnd
the “domestic sewagethat ths statute expres$g excludes from the definition of
“hazardousvaste”’and”solid waste” on the other.And to the extent that Plaintiffs are
suggestinghat the sewage alleged hase'industrial” or “commercial’andnot purely
“domesti¢ in nature(seePls.” Opp’n, atl4-16), or that theorigin and intended
destination of the sludge prior to the rupture defeats any sewage excg@gtiat 18)
such allegations are insufficient to state a plausible claim under iims t&f these
statutes, whicltontemplateéboth puredomestic sewagérom homes such as Plaintiffs’
andother solid waste (e.g. commercial material)ssolved[in] domesti¢ sewageand
excludes them bot2 U.S.C.8 6903(27) The statudry provision on which Plaintiffs

rely is also entirelyunconcerned with theoute of the sewagé¢hatthe statutes exclude,
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and on its face, the regulation’s statement that solid waste “excludes ajs{tof
domestic sewage and other wastes that pass[] through a sewer systembtiocly
owned treatment work®r treatment,”40 C.F.R.8 261.4(a)(1), plainly applies to the
circumstances alleged in Plaintiffs’ complairEherefore, the Court findBlaintiffs’
argument untenabjend itrejectsPlaintiffs’ contention that their environmental claims
can survive anotion to dismiss, when the statutes they rely uggntheir own plain
terms,were enacted to protettie environmentfrom spills and leaks ofiazardous
substanceandnot domestic sewagéne ruptures

b. Stating A Claim UndemThe RCRACERCLA And TSCA

Requires Allegations Of Imminent Or Ongoing Hafimat
The Complaint At Issue Here Does Notlude

Even if the environmental statutdsat Plaintiffsinvoke could be read to cover
the circumstances of the harm that Plaintiffs alleégejr complaint isalso devoid of
anyallegations of imminent or ongoing harand thugt fails to state a claimnder
these compliancerientedlaws. It is well established thatptmake a claim under the
RCRA, the plaintiff must demonstrateot only that the defendant contributed to the
presence of “a solid or hazardous waste as defined by the RCRA” but atssutth
waste “present[s] amtmminentandsubstantialendangerment to health or the
environmeng.]” Foster v. Lhited States922 F. Supp. 642, 660 (D.D.C. 1996)
(emphasis addedtitation omitted);see also idat 6& (granting summary judgment for
defendant when plaintiff R CRA claimfailed to demonstrateuchimminent and
substantial endangerment}[A] finding of ‘imminency’ does not require a showing
that actial harm will occur immediately but “the risk ofthreatened harm must be
present’ Basel Action 370 F. Supp. 2dt 78 (citation omitted) And, notably,this risk

requires*‘more than a mere showing that solid or hazardous wastes are present at the
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Site” Foster, 922 F. Supp. at 661linstead there must be “reasonable cause for
concern that someone or something may be exposed to a risk of harm . . . if remedial
action is not taken.Td. (internal quotation marks ardtation omitted)

It is preciselybecause the RCRA is addressed taraminent or ongoingisk of
harmfrom the presence of hazardous waste thatremedythat the statut@rovides is
limited to injunctive relief SeeMeghrig v. KFC Western, Inc516 U.S. 479484, 488
(1996) (holding that the RCRA provides no right to money damages and thanhafpla
cannot recovefcompensation fopast cleanup effost but “could seek a mandatory
injunction,i.e., one that orders a responsible party to ‘take action’ by atteridiibige
cleanup and proper disposal of toxic waste, or a prohibitory injuncti@none that
‘restrains’ a responsible party from further violating RCRAThe TSCA similarly
pertains toanimminent or ongoindiazard caused bthe presence of toxic cmicals
thus,its remedial scope ialsoconfined to injunctive reliefSee, e.g.Brewer v. Ravan
680 F. Supp. 11761184(M.D. Tenn. 1988) lfolding thatno monetary penalties may be
assessed under TSCA citizen suBjpone v. DuBoser18 F. Supp. 479, 484 (M.D. La.
1988) explaining that the TSCA and RCRA do not “permit a private right of acon f
the recovery of compensatory damage®yams v. Republic Steel Cos621 F. Supp.
370, 376 (W.D. Tenn. 1985) (holding that a private right of action dompensatory
damages under TSCA fails to state a cause of action).

Like the RCRAandthe TSCA, the CERCLA, too, has a prospective foglts
serves to “promote the timely cleanup of hazardous waste sites andutre ¢inat the
costs of such cleanup efforftg]re born by those responsible for the contamination.”

Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. United Stat®s6 U.S. 599, 602 (200¢)nternal
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guotation marks and citation omittedBut certain monetary damages are available
under theCERCLA—plaintiffs can seekreimbursenent forpast clearups in the
specific and limited circumstande whichthe gior expenditure \&s a“‘necessary cost”
that is“not inconsistent with the national contingency dl&h 42 U.S.C.88
9607(a)(4)(AX(B); see alsd~oster, 922 F.Supp. at 652f(nding that, under CERCLA,
a non-stateplaintiff must demonstrate that her costs were both necessary and eonsist
with the national contingency plarf). Therefore CERCLA canbe a vehicle for
compensatoryelief, but not in the form of unspecified damagesdeneralharms
caused by past exposui® hazardous wasgeather, plaintiffs can seelspecific
reimbursements fopastcleanup costshat the plaintiff hasncurredif the national
contingencyplan contemplates such expenses

Here,Plaintiffs seekcompensatoryndinjunctive reliefbased orfactual
allegations thatlo not demonstrate the kind of ongoing and imminent harm that these
environmental statutesre designed to addresgVith respect tdPlaintiffs’ claim for
compensatory daages, Plaintiffhavefailed to specify anycleanup costs they have
incurred, much less plausibly allege thatytheade“necessary’expenditureghat are
consistent withthe national contingency pldor the purpose of the CERCLAANd
absent such allegatns,compensatory relief under CERCLA unavailable. SeeKey
Tronic Corp. v. Uited States511 U.S. 809, 821 (1994) (finding that certain “services

do not constitute ‘necessary costs of response’ and [therefore] not rec@venalar

6 SeeCarson Harbor Vill. v. Cntyof Los Angeles433 F.3d 1260, 1265 (9th Cir. 2006) (“Private party
remedial action is consistent with the [National Cogtncy Plan] if the action, when evaluated as a
whole, is insubstantial compliancwith [certain procedural requirements], and results in a CERCLA
qguality cleanug’ (emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (git4® C.F.R.8
300.700(c)(3)(i); see also idat 1266 (adding that “the National Contingency Plaquires that the
party seeking recovery provide an opportunity for pubbenenent and participation, conduct a
remedial site investigation, and prepare a feasibsitydy” (citation omitted)).
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CERCLA"); seealsoFoster, 922 F. Supp. at 65@Qvhere “plaintiff fails to demonstrate
that his past [response] costs were necessary and consistent WNEEhke is not
entitled to recover them”).

The remaininglispute concernghetheror not Plaintiffs’complaint pausibly
claimsan entitlemento injunctive reliefunderthe cited environmental statutes
(CompareBelfor's Mot. at 31, 42vith Am. Comp.§ 157; Pls.” Opp’n at 16, 20.Jhis
Court concludes tha®laintiffs’ complaint fails in this respect as welkirst of all, the
allegations of Plaintiffsamended complaintividly describe a sewagmain rupture
andallegedly insufficientfollow-on remediation effortshat have already takeplace
andPlaintiffs’ pleading appeargrimarily concerned with seeking compensation for the
considerable damage that thgsestevents haveaused. (See, e.g. Amerd. Compl., at
36 (requesting that the Court order Defendants to “disgorge or reimburseiffdaiand
each of them, all costs incurred by Plaintiffs proximately causeDdfgndantE]
violation of RCRA, including attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in camreavith this
action”); id. at 39 (requesting that the Court order Defendants to “pay or reimburse to
Plaintiffs, and each othem, all costs and damages proximately caused by Defendants’
conduct [and] . . . such other and further equitable or legal relief [inclliidiberest,
costs, and attorneys’ fees'’ijj. at 40 (same) The complaindoes not allege that the
disastrous seageline rupture is an ongoing occurrence, nor does it contain facts that
might give rise to a plausible inference that Plaintiffs face an imminent thfeat o
another, similar hazardougaste leak or spill Thus,the complaint does not allege an
ongoing @ continuous injury for present purposeSee, e.g.Gwaltney 484 U.S. at 67

(finding that, under citizen suit provision using nearly identical language, citizens
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could not seek injunctive relief for wholly past violatignsMeghrig, 516 U.S.at 484
(clarifying that the appropriate forms of relief includejoiningthe violatorto “take
action” or “restrain” from further violations

What is more, it is clear to ihCourt that Plaintiffs are not seeking the type of
remedial relief that the RCRA, tHeERCLA, or the TSCA actually authorize&.or
example,althoughthe complaintrequess that Defendants be enjoined “to address the
contamination that they ha[ve] caused” (Ameg@admpl., at 36)Plaintiffs citeno cases
that interpret these particular sié¢s as authorizing courts to enjoin defendants to
remediate the effects @fastinjurious conducin the manner that Plaintiffs suggest
(See, e.qg.id. (seeking an order that requires Defendants “to address the contaminati
that they ha[ve] caused, amdthich continues to subject the residents of Delafield Place
to substantial and imminent harm, including by arranging and payinthéomedical
monitoring of all those, including Plaintiffs, affected by WASA’s condaict WASA'’s
hazardous waste”).)ntleed an injunction that requires defendant to remedy the harm
that the defendant’s past actions have causeaa injunction in name onhri.e., it is
the functional equivalent adrderingcompensatory damageshich means thatuch an
“injunction” is notproperly viewed as injunctive relief at all.

Plaintiffs’ attempt tosidestep this conclusion by reciagt their environmental
claims as requests foprospective relief in the form dimedical monitoring
demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding eddtfederaénvironmental laws and
the nature of the remedy they providAgain, these statutgsermitcitizenswho have
provided therelevantauthorities with the requisite noti¢e seekan injunctionto

address mimminentor ongoingharmful act the leak or spillof hazardous wasje42
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U.S.C. 8§ 6972(a)(1)(B)andtheyare generallynotthe vehicle by which a plaintifivho
has been damagdxy exposure to such a spill or leakeks to remedis residual
effects Put colloquially what is done is done, ardhinjunction orderedmore than60
or 90 days after the leak at issue (in accordance with the statutesé meguirements)
can only prevent the impact of an ongoing or future exposure; it cannot blunt a
hazardous waste leak that has already ocdurfidus,the thrust othese particular
statutess to empowercitizens togo to court toseek injunctive relief t@topor prevent
continuous or ongoing spills or leaktsatthe authorities have noget addressedand
theysimply are not concerned witproviding compensatioonr other remedial reliefior
the potential lingering effects gfast injuriousconduct of this naturenowever
warranted

BecausePlaintiffs’ environmentalaw claims and relatedllegations ignore the
subtle but significant distinction between an ongoing and continuous hazardous waste
leak or risk, on the one hand, and the potentially lasting effects of past expossueh
waste, on the other, they fail to state a claim upon which relief can beedrantus,
even if (1) these environmentadtatutes pertained to sewagad (2)Plaintiffs had
satisfied the statutory notice requirements, @)done accepts as true the complaints’
allegations regarding the lingering harmful effects of the sewagim rupture that
occurred @ November 18, 201 &laintiffs’ complaintcannot proceed with respect to
these claims, becauseciontains ndactualallegations from which one could infer that
an ongoindeak or imminent riskof such leakexists at present, such that injunctive
relief to prevent future harm is warrante@onsequentlyCounts V, VI, and VIimust

be dismissed.
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B. Plaintiffs’ Federal Civil Rights Claims Must Be DismissedBecause
The Complaint’s Allegations Do Not State A Claim Under These
Statutes

In Counts I, Il, and Il} Plaintiffs claim that Defendants’ condugtolated three
federal civil rights statws 42 U.S.C. 881981, 1982, and 1983Section 1981
guarantees that “[a]ibersons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall have the
same right in every State and Territory to make and enforce contracts,tbes parties,
give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedingsef
security ofpersons and property as is enjoyed by white citiZed U.S.C. § 1981
and“to establish a claim und&r1981, a plaintiff must show that (1) [he or she is a
member] of a racial minority [group]; (2) the defendant had an intent toidis@ate on
the basis brace; and (3) the discrimination concerned one or more of theitesiv
enumerated in the stat(ifg’ Mitchell v. DCX, Inc, 274 F.Supp. 2d 33, 4445 (D.D.C.
2003)(internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (alterations in origirsa&l¢; also
Davis v. Megabus Northeast LL.®lo. 160939, 2018 WL 1471947 at *2 (D.D.C. Mar.
26, 2018)(noting that Section 198Imost commonlyinvolve[s] contracts of
employment; butthe provision “also prohibits refusal of service based on’race
(quotingMitchell, 274 F. Supp. 2dat 44)). Section 1982yuarantees that “[a]ll citizens
of the United States shall have the same right, in every State and Tyerasois
enjoyed by white citizens thereof to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hadcarvey real
and personalqoperty.” 42 U.S.C. § 1982.Section1983 provides that “[e]very person
who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, otaeyos
Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjectgditézen of
the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to thevégiom of

any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution angl, Iskall be
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liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or othepgrpioceeding
for redresf]” 1d. § 1983.

Notably, & a practical matteaind for the purpose of the instant lawsuitgse
three claimseffectivelyreduce to one-adiscriminationclaim brought under Section
1983—becausdhere is ncstandaloneprivate causeof actionunder Sections 1981 and
1982 as Defendants point ou{SeeBelfor's Mot. at20-22.) That is, t is well
established tha®ection1983 is the remedial mechanighmat plaintiffs invoketo
vindicatethe rights enumerated all threeof thesestatutory provisions See, e.g.Jett
v. DallasIndep Sch Dist., 491 U.S. 701, 731 (1989) (“Congress intended that the
explicit remedial provisions 0§ 1983be controlling in the context of damages actions
brought against state actors alleging violataf the rights declared i@ 1981.");
Victors v.Kronmiller, 553 F. Supp. 2d 533, 543 (D. Md. 2008)€tts reasoning
applies equally well t@ 1982 suits against state actorsSge alsaChandler v. Jones
802 F. Supp. 2d 13, 14 n.1 (D.D.C. 201 D)herefore,the onlycivil rights claim whose
elementghis Courtneed to considerfor the purpose of the pending motions to dismiss
is Plaintiffs’ Secton 1983 claim, which alleges, in essence, that Defendants violated the
protections of Sections 198 1982 while acting under color of state |dwA violation

of any one of these underlyirapti-discrimination laws requires a showing of

" Plaintiffs fashionthe complaint'sallegations ofracediscriminationin Counts | and llas arising under
Sections 1981 and 1982andthe Amended Complaint makes independentursoryreference to the
Equal Protection Clause.S€eAm. Compl.45,171140-41.) The requirement of discriminatory intent
applies whether Plaintiffs bring a Section 198aim or a 1982 claimor a claim underthe Equal
Protectionclause Seeg e.g, City of Cuyahoga Falls v. Buckeye Cmty. Hope Foub88 U.S. 188, 194
(2003) Eexplaining that' ‘[ pJroof of discriminatory intent or purpose is requitéd show” an equal
protection violation(quotingVill. of Arlington Heights v. Metro Hous. Dev. Coy@29 U.S. 252, 265
(1977); Ekwem v. Fenty666 F. Supp. 2d 71, 79 (D.D.C. 2009p(&intiff has therefore failed to allege
any facts plausibly indicating ‘discriminatory intent or purposed &@as not estdished the required
elements of an equal protectictaim.”).
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discriminatory intenttherefore thatsame requiremergpplies toa Section 1983 claim
to remedy a violation under orod these laws.This means that, heréhis Court need
concern itselonly with Defendants’ contention th&laintiffs have faiedto allege
factsthat, if true, would establish that Defendants were acting under coloatef Istw
and that they had the reigite discriminatory intentand thus have failed to state a
claimunder42 U.S.C. § 1983 (SeeWASA'’s Mot., at 18-24.) For the reasons
explained below,Hhis Court agreesvith this contention.

1. Plaintiffs Have Not AllegedractsThatSupport TheConclusion
ThatDefendants Were Acting Under Color Of State Law

“To state a claim unddiSection]1983 a plaintiff must allege the violation of a
right secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States, and must Isduotlue
alleged deprivation was committed by a person acting under color of state Vst
v. Atking 487 U.S. 42, 48 (19883%ee alsoHoai v. V0,935 F.2d 308, 312 (D.C. Cir.
1991)(citing Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Ca398 U.S. 144, 150 (1970)5Bonzaga Univ. v.
Doe,536 U.S. 273, 2792002) (noting “that§ 1983actions may be brought against
state actors to enforce rights created by federal statutes as welltlas Gpnstitution”).
The alleged wrongdoer must “have exercised power possessed by virtateolfast and
made possible only . . [through] the authority of state lawAtkins 487 U.S. at 49
(internal quotation marks and citation omittegge also Amiri v. GelmamMgmt.Co.,
734 F. Supp. 2d 1, 3 (D.D.C. 2010) (dismissBection1983 claim for failure to state a
claim where omplaint fails to suggest that defendant was a state actor or acted in
concert with the District of Columbiafmiri v. Kelting,356 Fed. Appx. 423 (D.C. Cir.
2009) (affirming dismissal othe complaint where plaintiff Amiri‘alleged no conduct

by a state actor within the purview 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983”")Md. Minority Contractors
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Assn v. Lynch,203 F.3d 821 (4th Cir. 200@able) (affirming dismissal ofa Section
1983claim against a private company where the complaint dicaHege that the

company was extensively regulated by the state or that the company chevas a

state actor).Section 1983’s prescription that the defendant must be acting “under color
of state law” expressly applies tbe District of Columbia.See42 U.S.C.8 1983

(listing “any State or Territory or the District of Columbia”).

Plaintiffs allegethat WASAwas acting under color of state lawthin the
meaning of Section 1983, simply and solbbrause WASA ian “independent agency”
of the Districtof Columbia. (Am. Compl. T 2§internal quotation marks omitted)

But the merefact that WASAIs a stateagency (even if truejoes not establish that
WASA wasacting under color of state lawhen it allegedly violate®laintiffs’ civil
rights. Rather,the law is clear thathe “undercolor of state law'mandaterequires the
state actor to haveommittedthe alleged violatiopursuant toa statecustom or policy
SeeFeirson v. District of Columbia506 F.3d 1063, 1066 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (clarifying
that Section 1983 liability requires a plaintiff to show not only that a stateract
committed the alleged violation “but also that the Districtisstom or policycaused the
violation” (internalpunctuation and citatioomitted)); Monell v. Dept of Soc Servs of
City of New York436 U.S. 658, 6941978) (stating that Section 1983 makes unlawful
an action that “execut[es] government’s policy or custom”). Put another whgcause
a state actor’sliscriminatoryconductmight well havebeen motivated bythe actor’s
own individual animus;[p]roof of a single incident of unconstitutional activity is
insufficient to impose liability underSection1983“unless thergi] s proof that there

was apolicyin place that wasinconstitutional."Sanders v. District of Columbi®22 F.
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Supp. 2d 83, 88 (D.D.C. 2007¢mphasis addedkiting Monell, 436 U.S.at694), see
alsoPolk ty. v. Dodson 454 U.S. 312, 325 (1981) (“Section 1983 will not support a
claim based on eespondeat superiotheory of liability.”).

Plaintiffs’ complaintcontains d'single conclusory statemdnt”’ Ekwem v. Fenty
666 F. Supp. 2d 71, 79 (D.D.C. 200@ternal quotation marks and citation omitjed
to the effect that WASA was a state ac(dm. Compl. § T 14641), andoffers “* no
factsto support fny claim that the District has a racially discriminatory policy or

practicd.]’” Ekwemat 79(emphasis in original) (citation omitted)hus, it plainly

fails to state a Section 1983 clainteeSanders522 F. Supp. 2d at 8&laintiffs’
Section 1983 claims against tbefendant Contractoril for this same reason,
although it is perhaps even more clear that the complaintislercolor of state law”
contentions are deficient with respect to these defendaptausdefendant
Contractas are themselveprivate corporations (SeeAm. Compl. | § 2%29; Belfor’s
Mot. at 23-24.) The only grounds Plaintiffs offer farlaimingthat these federal civil
rights laws apply to such actors by virtue of Section 188Be allegation thatese
companiesvereacting as‘agents of WASA (Am. Compl. T 44), but it has long been
clear that the acts gfrivate contractors “do not become acts of the government by
reason of their significant or even total engagement in performingcpcdntracts”

See RendelBaker v. Kohn457 U.S. 830, 841 (19823ee also Lugar v. Edmondson Oil
Co., Inc, 457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982)[{] he [private]party charged with the deprivation
[of a federal right] must be a person who may fairly be said to be a state[whioh]

may be because he is a state official, because he has acted togetherheaishobtained

significant aid from state officials, or because his conduct is othemtiaegeable to
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the Staté’). In any event, Defendant Contractors’ purported stagisgent$ of the
District (i.e., state actorg)uts them in no different position with respect to Section
1983’s“under color of state law” requiremetttanan entity thaunquestionably
gualifies as a state actor for Section 1983 purposzmrdlessa viable Section 1983
claim must rest a allegations that the defendamt¢tedunder color of state law-i.e.,
pursuant toa statecustom or policy SeeTurner v. Corrs Corp. of Am, 56 F. Supp. 3d
32, 35-36 (D.D.C. 2014) éxplaining that'suits againstompanieghat perform
services usually performed by the municipality. also require[] proof of custom or
policy” and the contention “that a municipal policy was the moving force behind the
constitutional violation” (internal citati@and quotation m&s omitted)). Plaintiffs’
complaint alleges no such thing.

2. Plaintiffs Have Not Alleged Facts From Which Discriminatory
Intent Can Plausibly Be Inferred

Evenif Plaintiffs complaintsufficiently alleges that Defendantsvere acing
under color of state lawhen theyengaged in conduct thatolated Plaintiffs’
protectedcivil rights, the rights at issubere—i.e., those protected bf2 U.S.C.88§
1981 or 1982, or the Equal Protection Clausean be violated only by purposeful
discrimination,”Gen. Bldg. Contractors Ass v. Penn.458 U.S. 375, 391 (1982and
Plaintiffs’ complaint is devoid o&nyallegationsthatcangive rise to a reasonable
inferenceof discriminatory intent See Atherton v. District of Columbia Office of
Mayor, 567 F.3d 672, 681, 688 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (reversing district court’s finding that
plaintiff stated adiscrimination claim undegection 1983 where “spare facts and
allegations [were] not enough” to show “that the defendant acted withimisatory

purpose”) see alsaMiddlebrooks v. Godwin Corp722 F. Supp. 2d 82, 838 (D.D.C.
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2010) (dismissingsection1981claim where “[t]he only suggestion that plaintgfrace
or color played any role in her interactions with [defendants] are [her] asoc}
statements that she was ‘terminatedbased on [her] race’ and ‘color?”McKnight v.
Middleton 699 F. Supp. 2d 507, 5381 (E.D.N.Y. 2010)dismissing claims
underSectionsl981and1982becauselaintiff “failed to plead any nosspeculative
factssupporting an inference of racial animus, let alone intentional discaioim”);
McReynolds v. Sodexho Marriott Servs., Ji849 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7 n.3 (D.D.C. 2004)
(“Defendant correctly argues thplaintiffs cannot bring a disparate impact claimder
42 U.S.C.8 1981 since purposeful discrimination is required ungér981”).
Plaintiffs “concede that the Amended Complaint does not contain any adags#
overtdiscrimination” butargue allege nevertheletdsat “the sewage disaster affected a
community that isvholly AfricanAmerican” and on that basis alonBgfendants’
conductgives rise to a civil rights claim(SeePls.” Opp’n at 1Qemphass added)
(asserting that Defendants’ condudeniedan alkAfrican-American community its
most basic human and civil righ{s’id. at 9-10 (suggesting that the “suspicious
sequence of evertsurrounding the sewagmain break and its aftermath had
“racially-discriminatory impactnexplanable on grounslother than race(internal
guotation marks omittegl)

Plaintiffs’ suggestion thathe Delafield Place residents’ race alone is sufficient
to support an inference of race discriminationvsefully mistaken.(SeeMots. Hr'g
Tr., ECF No. 45at 21:8-18 (insisting that thenerefact that this community “[i]s
entirely African Americarand received the treatment that it did” permitsiraierence

of discrimination).) The only allegation in the complaint that has anything whatsoever
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to do with the Plainffs’ claim of discrimination on the basis of race is the mere fact
that the Plaintiffs themselves are uniformly African AmericaBee(Am. Compl.{ 9.)
A legion of caseshasheld that the mere fact that an injured party happens to be a
member of a certairacial minority group does ngive rise to aeasonablenference
of discriminatory treatment, and this principle is too well establishedatvamt
explanation herelt suffices to say that, in 2018, the suggestiorPgintiffs’ counsel
thatthe raceof his clients standingalone,without any other factds a sufficient basis
upon which to dravan inference that Plaintiffs were mistreatagcause of their race
borders on ineffective assistanc8ee Ndondji v. Interpark Inc768 F. Supp. 2d 263,
274-75 (D.D.C. 2011) ¢bserving that[Plaintiff's] occasional reference to his race in
his amended complaint is. insufficient to make out a section 1981 actibandnoting
that ke could have donenore, such asidentif[ying] theracesof the InterPak
employees who allegedly discriminated against him or, more importah#yacesof
other similarly situated employees who welkegedlytreated more favorably than he
was’). Indeed, the complaint saysthingaboutDefendantsintentiors with respect to
the sewage main break, and the botched clepnmuch less that these events occurred
as alleged because the impacted residents weravhae, and in factthe words
“discrimination” and “discriminatory’are wholly absent from the allefgans that
Plaintiffs make concerning alleged civil rights violations

To recap, it is clear beyond cavil thga] plaintiff cannot merely invoke his race
in the course of a claim’s narrative and automatically be entitled to puedief under
the civil rights statuteshat Plaintiffs haveelied upon inthis case Middlebrooks 722

F. Supp. 2cat 88 (internal quotation marks amdtations omitted).“Rather,[the]
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plaintiff must allegesomefacts that demonstrate that his race was the reasdmnhfegr
defendant’s actions.ld. (emphasis addgdinternal quotation marks araitations
omitted) And havingfailed toallege any such facis the instant complaintPlaintiffs
hereare not entitled to pursu@ounts I, Il, and IH—i.e., their claimsunder Sections
1981, 1982, and 1983

C. Because There AreNo Remaining Federal Claims, The Court Declines

To Exercise Supplemental Jurisdiction Over Plaintiffs’ D.C. Local
Claims

The only claims over which this Court has original jurisdictiorthis caseare
thefederal environmental claims raised in Counts V, VI, and ¥hd thefederal civil
rights claims raised in Counts I, I, and IIE€e id.J 31.) For the reasons explained
above,this Court has concluded that all of these claims mustibmissec therefore, it
has proceeded tdetermine whetheor notto exercise supplemental jurisdiction over
the four remaininglocal) claimsthat Plaintiffsraisein Count IV (discrimination under
the DCHRA), Count VIII (violation of the D.C. Asbestos Rulg€ount IX (common
law gross negligencggndCountX (trespask SeeShekoyan v. Sibley Interrd09 F.3d
414, 423 (D.C. Cir. 2005)kplaining that the district court alone must decide
“[w]hetherto retain jurisdiction over [supplemental] state and common law claites af
the dismissal of the federal claims”T.he Court has discretion to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction. See United Mine Worker883 U.S.at 726.

It is a comnon practice of theudges in this districto decline to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over local matters if the federal claims w\ech the court
has original jurisdiction are dismisse®ee, e.g, Byrd v. District of Columbia297 F.
Supp. 2d 136, 143 (D.D.@003) (“[T]he Court will grant summary judgment as to both

defendants on plaintiff’'s claims und8r198d,] . . . andthe Court declines to exercise
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its supplemental jurisdictioaver the remaining commelaw claims][.]”); Caesar v.
Rosstead593 F. Supp. 2d 91, 94 (D.D.C. 200®Jeclin[ing] to exercise supplemental
jurisdiction. . . [and] conclud[ing] that [the Court] lacks subject matter jurisdiction
over plaintiff’'s common law tort claims;\Jackson v. Pond$34 F. Supp. 2d 29, 32
(D.D.C. 2008)(“Plaintiff fails to state a civil rights claim upon which relief can be
granted, and with the dismissal of this federal claim, the Court dismissestract
and tort claims[.]”) This Court sees no reason to deviate from this practice in the
instant case; @refore it has dismisse€ountslV, VI, IX, and X of Plaintiffs’

complaint.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court has no doubt that Plaintiffs have suffered tremendously as a result o
the sewagdine rupture that damaged their homes and ruined their personal property
and while he lawmight ultimatelyafford themsomerelief, Plaintiffs must seekuch
damagegursuant to statutedatactually pertain to the harms they are allegiagd
must do so in accordance with the procedures prescribed by those lawihe Fersons
stated above, the allegations of Plaintife®mplaintdo not state a claim upon which
relief can be granted under federal la¥wnd this Courthas declind to exercise
supplemental jurisdictionver themyriad claims that Plaintiffs have broughnder
state law, including theommon lawnegligenceclaims that ordinarily permit recovery

of damages for thbarms of this type.Consequentlyand as set forth in the Orddated
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September 30, 201®efendants’ motions to dismigdaintiffs’ complainthas been

GRANTED, and Plaintiffs’ complaint has be@SMISSED.

DATE: October 2, 2018 Kdanji Brown Jactson
’ b

KETANJI BROWN JACKSON
United States District Jueg
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